1. Identity of Petitioners 

Roff and Bobbi Arden, Plaintiffs in the trial court and Appellants in 

the Court of Appeals, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of 

Appeals decision terminating review, specified below. 

2. Court of Appeals Decision 

Arden v. Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S., No. 46991-0-II (May 3, 2016). 

A copy of the decision is included in the Appendix at pages 1-27. 

3. Issues Presented for Review 

1. Under Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 

715 P.2d 1133 (1986), insurance-appointed defense counsel must fully 

disclose potential conflicts of interest and resolve them in favor of the 

insured client. Forsberg had a potential "materially limited" conflict due to its 

long-standing relationships as coverage counsel and panel counsel for 

Hartford, but never disclosed these relationships to Ardens. Did Forsberg 

breach its fiduciary duties to Ardens by failing to disclose or resolve this 

conflict of interest? 

2. Under Tank, defense counsel must keep the insured client 

fully apprised of all activity involving settlement, to enable the client to make 

informed decisions regarding settlement. Forsberg failed to consult with 

Ardens regarding their options in response to Hartford's setdement 

decisions. Forsberg carried out Hartford's instructions without giving Ardens 

an opportunity to react. Did Forsberg breach its fiduciary duties to Ardens? 
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3. Disgorgement of fees is a common remedy for breach of an 

attorney's duty of loyalty. Forsberg breached its duty of loyalty to Ardens. 

Are Ardens entitled to disgorgement of all fees received by Forsberg for the 

representation? 

4. When a trustee breaches its duty of loyalty, the court has 

broad equitable powers to craft a deterrent remedy. The relationship between 

insurer, insured, and defense counsel bears all of the characteristics of a 

trust, with defense counsel as trustee over the insurance defense asset. Does 

Forsberg's breach amount to a breach of trust? 

5. Under the "attorney judgment rule" adopted by the Court of 

Appeals in Clark County Fire Dist. No.5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailry PC, 180 Wn. 

App. 689, 324 P.3d 743 (2014), a legal negligence claim must be supported by 

expert testimony that the defendant's actions were outside the range of 

reasonable alternatives from the perspective of a reasonable, careful, and 

prudent attorney in Washington. Ardens' expert witness provided such 

testimony. Is the "attorney judgment rule" the law in Washington and did the 

expert testimony raise a genuine issue of material fact? 

4. Statement of the Case 

Forsberg & Umlauf and attorneys John Hayes and William "Chris" 

Gibson ("Forsberg") were appointed by Hartford, Ardens' insurer, to defend 

Ardens under a reservation of rights. Throughout the representation, 

Forsberg failed to advise Ardens of potential and actual conflicts of interest 

and failed to consult with Ardens regarding their options in response to 
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Hartford's settlement decisions. Instead, Forsberg carried out Hartford's 

instructions without giving Ardens any opportunity to react. 

Ardens sued Forsberg for legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary 

duties. The undisputed facts show that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duties 

under the RPCs and under Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 

715 P.2d 1133 (1986). Ardens' expert testified that Forsberg's actions also 

breached the standard of care. The trial court dismissed Ardens' claims on 

summary judgment. The Court of Appeals affirmed. 

4.1 Forsberg was appointed by Hartford to defend 
Ardens in Duffy v. Arden. 

Roff and Bobbi Arden were sued by Anne and Wade Duffy. CP 855, 

904. Ardens tendered defense of the case to their insurer, Property and 

Casualty Insurance Company of Hartford. CP 856, 904. Hartford initially 

refused to defend, but accepted after being threatened with coverage 

litigation. CP 315-21, 856. Hartford appointed attorneys John P. Hayes and 

William C. "Chris" Gibson of the firm Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S. to defend 

Ardens. CP 130; 445-46. Hartford informed Forsberg that the defense would 

be under a reservation of rights. See CP 208, 318, 320. 

Hartford was a long-standing client of Forsberg. Four partners, 

including Hayes, regularly represented Hartford as coverage counsel. 

CP 203-04. Forsberg was also Hartford's "go-to" defense firm in the Seattle 

area. See CP 120, 165. Neither Hayes nor Gibson ever informed Ardens of 

this pre-existing relationship or any potential conflict of interest that may 

have arisen from it. CP 227, 229, 4 30. Had Ardens known of the 
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relationship, they would not have accepted Forsberg as defense counsel. 

CP 227,229. 

Gibson met with Ardens and their coverage counsel, Jon Cushman, 

within a few weeks of being appointed. CP 483-84; 546. During that 

meeting, Ardens explained to Gibson the circumstances surrounding Duffys' 

claims. Duffys alleged that Roff Arden negligendy or maliciously shot and 

killed two of Duffys' dogs. CP 445. Duffys had habitually allowed their dogs 

to roam free. CP 536. On multiple occasions, Duffys' dogs had come onto 

the Arden property and threatened and chased Ardens. CP 536-37. 

Roff Arden suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) as a 

result of physical and mental abuse as a child and was re-traumatized in 2010. 

CP 572-73. His PTSD manifests as acute anxiety attacks or bouts of 

depression, difficulty trusting others, and an intense fight-or-flight response. 

CP 574, 586. Arden also suffers from a fear of dogs as the result of a 

previous dog attack. CP 589-90. Arden admitted to Gibson that he shot 

Duffys' yellow lab in the midst of a PTSD-induced fight-or-flight response 

when two of Duffys' dogs chased Ardens halfway down their driveway. 

CP 585-86. Gibson was aware that the sheriff's office had requested the 

prosecutor consider charging Roff Arden with felony animal cruelty. 

CP 484,491. 

Coming out of the meeting with Gibson, Ardens were unaware of 

any particular defense or setdement plan. CP 546. Gibson only told Ardens 

he would be evaluating Hartford's exposure. Id. Neither Gibson nor Hayes 

ever contacted Ardens to discuss strategy. CP 574, 582. 
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4.2 Forsberg followed Hartford's settlement 
instructions despite opposition from Ardens. 

Duffys demanded $55,000 to settle the case. CP 255. After consulting 

with Ardens, Cushman informed Gibson that Ardens wanted to accept the 

offer and demanded that Hartford fund the settlement. CP 256, 617. 

Hartford refused, wanting more information to evaluate the case. CP 333. 

Forsberg sought an extension in time on the settlement offer, and during that 

extension, Hartford drafted and sent Arden a reservation of rights letter, 

which it had failed to do three months earlier. CP 135-36, 330. 

After receiving discovery responses from Duffys, Hayes and Gibson 

prepared a case analysis for Hartford. CP 253. They recommended 

attempting to settle the case at up to $35,000. CP 468-69. After close of 

business on the day Duffys' offer expired, Hartford notified Cushman that it 

was letting the offer expire. CP 262. The next morning, Hayes notified 

Cushman that Hartford had given him settlement authority up to $35,000 

and that he was going to start with a counteroffer of $18,000. CP 263. 

Within eight minutes, Gibson had already attempted to communicate the 

counteroffer to Duffys. CP 878. Neither Hayes nor Gibson had consulted 

with Ardens regarding letting the Duffys' offer expire or making the 

counteroffer. CP 183,210. 

Duffys promptly rejected the counteroffer. CP 719. Within days, 

Duffys extended a new offer at $40,000. CP 882. Cushman, on behalf of 

Ardens, again demanded that Hartford fund the settlement. CP 883. 
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The day the offer was to expire, Hartford notified Cushman and 

Hayes that it would not fund the settlement at $40,000 and that it intended to 

make a counteroffer at $25,000. CP 767. Cushman objected, warning 

Hartford and Hayes that their proposed course was bad faith. CP 770. About 

45 minutes after receiving Hartford's instruction, Hayes made the 

counteroffer. CP 267. Neither Hayes nor Gibson had consulted with Ardens 

or sought their approval before making the counteroffer. CP 198, 219. 

Duffys rejected the $25,000 counteroffer and refused to negotiate 

further. CP 890. On March 19, Roff Arden learned that felony charges had 

been filed against him. See CP 798-99, 892. Despite Forsberg's knowledge 

that such charges were possible, Gibson testified he had no duty to consider 

Arden's exposure to criminal jeopardy: 

Q. Do you think that you as their lawyer have any duty to craft your 
defense strategy toward minimizing their criminal exposure? 

[Objection] 
A. [by Chris Gibson] I don't think I have that duty, to be honest with 

you. 
Q. Okay. All right. So, if one strategy might increase their exposure 

to criminal jeopardy and another strategy might reduce their 
exposure to criminal jeopardy, you do not believe you have a duty 
to craft the strategy that reduces their exposure to criminal 
jeopardy? 

[Objection] 
A. I think my clients have a responsibility to themselves to get a 

criminal defense attorney involved ... 

CP 170. 

Despite Ardens' desire for a quick settlement in hopes of avoiding 

criminal charges and minimizing the mental health impacts of the litigation, 
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see CP 857, Hayes and Gibson followed Hartford's deliberate, low-ball 

strategy for settlement, see CP 111, 143, 152,219. Despite Gibson's stated 

understanding that the insured client has the right to participate in settlement 

negotiations in a reservation-of-rights defense, CP 171-72, Gibson never 

involved Ardens in any settlement-related decisions, CP 865. Despite Hayes' 

stated understanding that he owed a duty of undivided loyalty to Ardens, 

CP 208, Hayes obediently carried out Hartford's instructions over Ardens' 

objections, CP 219. 

4.3 The trial court dismissed Ardens' claims on 
summary judgment. 

Ardens sued Hartford for bad faith, later adding claims against 

Forsberg & Umlauf, Hayes, and Gibson for legal malpractice and breach of 

fiduciary duties. RP 19; Supp. RP 2. Hartford and Duffys settled, leaving only 

Ardens' claims against Forsberg & Umlauf, Hayes, and Gibson. RP 19. 

After a contentious discovery process, the parties made cross-

motions for summary judgment on the legal malpractice claims. The trial 

court granted Forsberg's motion, dismissing Ardens' legal malpractice claim 

but leaving Ardens' breach of fiduciary duty claim for later determination. 

CP 249-50; Supp. RP 2-3, 6.1 The court held that, despite disputes of fact 

regarding breach of duty, Ardens failed to prove causation and that attorney 

The verbatim report of proceedings was supplemented by order of the 

commissioner on motion of the parties to include the October 1, 2014, oral ruling 

of the trial court. The supplemental transcript is referred to herein as "Supp. RP," 

while the originally filed report of proceedings is referred to as ''RP." 
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fees and emotional distress damages were not recoverable in a legal 

malpractice claim. Supp. RP 4-6. 

The parties made a second set of cross-motions for summary 

judgment to address the breach of fiduciary duty claim. Ardens argued that 

Forsberg had breached its duty of loyalty to Ardens "by taking on a 

representation from which they were disqualified by conflicts of interest; 

failing to communicate with Ardens; failing to keep Ardens apprised of all 

activity involving settlement; failing to consider Ardens' mental health 

condition and criminal jeopardy; and placing the interests of the insurer 

above the interests of Ardens, their clients." CP 236-37. Ardens argued that 

the relationship between insurance defense counsel and the insured client is 

impressed with a trust, entitling Ardens to equitable remedies for breach of 

trust. CP 241-43. Forsberg argued that there was no conflict of interest and 

therefore no breach of fiduciary duty. CP 89. 

The trial court denied Ardens' motion and dismissed the remainder 

of Ardens' claims. RP 94. The court ruled that there was no disqualifying 

conflict of interest and therefore no breach of fiduciary duty. RP 84-85. The 

court commented that Ardens' trust theory was "interesting and somewhat 

compelling," but the court did not find it supported by precedent. RP 94. 

The decision disposed of all of Ardens' claims. CP 24. Ardens appealed. 

CP 5. 
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4.4 The Court of Appeals Affirmed Dismissal 

On appeal, Ardens described in detail the duties owed by Forsberg 

under the RPCs, under Tank, and as trustees over the insurance defense 

asset. Br. of App. at 14-23. Ardens emphasized the in-depth consultation 

required to satisfy defense counsel's duty of "full and ongoing disclosure" of 

actual and potential conflicts of interest, including disagreements between 

the insurer and the insured client regarding settlement decisions. Br. of App. 

at 19-20. Ardens argued that Forsberg breached its fiduciary duties by 

1) failing to advise Ardens or seek Ardens' informed consent for conflicts of 

interest arising from Forsberg's long-standing attorney-client and business 

relationships with Hartford (Br. of App. at 24-27); 2) failing to consult with 

Ardens regarding the actual conflict between Hartford's instructions and 

Ardens' expressed interests (Br. of App. at 27-32); and 3) following 

Hartford's instructions without giving Ardens an opportunity to act before 

Duffys' demands were rejected (Br. of App. at 32-33). 

Ardens argued that they were entitled to broad equitable remedies for 

Forsberg's breach, including disgorgement of fees (Br. of App. at 35-37), 

emotional distress damages (Br. of App. at 37-39), and other remedies to 

make Ardens whole and prevent Forsberg from benefitting from its breach 

of trust (Br. of App. at 39-41). Ardens argued that material issues of fact 

precluded summary judgment dismissal of their legal malpractice claim. 

Br. of App. at 41-43. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of Ardens' claims. App. 2. 

The court briefly outlined defense counsel's duties under the RPCs and 
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under Tank, but declined to address Ardens' trust argument. App. 9-11. 

Addressing the issue of conflicts arising from Forsberg's relationship with 

Hartford as a question of first impression, the court dismissed the opinions 

of the parties' experts and of esteemed commentators. App. 11-12. The 

court reasoned, "as long as the defense attorney follows the criteria outlined 

in Tank, ... a conflict of interest does not automatically arise." App. 13 

(emphasis added). The court ignored the existence of potential conflicts, 

reasoning that such would only arise in cases of multiple representation. 

App. 16. The court also reasoned that because Forsberg had explained to 

Ardens "the parameters and scope of Forsberg's defense of them under a 

reservation of rights," it had satisfied its duty of full and ongoing disclosure 

of actual and potential conflicts of interest under Tank without disclosing 

the relationship between Forsberg and Hartford. App. 17-18. 

The court noted that in a reservation of rights case, the insured client 

has the right to setde a case without the insurer's consent, either by putting 

up the client's own money or by entering into a stipulated judgment with a 

covenant not to execute against the insured. App. 18-19. The court 

acknowledged that "This means that when the claimant makes a setdement 

demand, defense counsel must consult with the insured before that demand 

is rejected or allowed to expire. Otherwise, it may be difficult for the insured 

to exercise its setdement rights." App. 22. Nevertheless, the court held that 

Forsberg could not be liable for failing to consult with Ardens regarding 

setdement, reasoning that Ardens had not shown that "they would have been 

willing to fund the setdement themselves or otherwise negotiate a separate 

Petition for Review - 10 



settlement with the Duffys." App. 22; but see CP 574-75 (Arden would have 

been willing to contribute his own money at the time of the $40,000 offer). 

On the Ardens' legal negligence claim, the court relied on the 

"attorney judgment rule" it had created in Clark County Fire Dist. No.5 v. 

Bullivant Houser Batley PC, 180 Wn. App. 689, 324 P.3d 743 (2014). Misreading 

the record, the court held that Ardens had failed to present evidence that 

Forsbergs' actions were "outside the range of reasonable alternatives from 

the perspective of a reasonable, careful, and prudent attorney in 

Washington." Compare App. 27 with CP 421-22 (Prof. Strait provided the 

required testimony). 

Ardens seek review. 

5. Argument 

A petition for review should be accepted when the decision of the 

Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court or when the 

case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). 

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with, and entirely 

undermines, this Court's decision in Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 

105 W n.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). Where Tank protected the insured 

client's right to be represented by a loyal and persuasive advocate, the 

decision of the Court of Appeals allows defense counsel to act as little more 

than a claims adjuster, blithely following the direction of the insurer, without 

a thought for the interests of the client, so long as the matter eventually 
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settles on the insurer's dime. It leaves insureds, like Ardens, effectively 

unrepresented, without an advocate for their interests in the defense. While 

purporting to rely on Tank, the decision of the Court of Appeals turns Tank 

on its head. The disastrous effect of the decision is an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be addressed and corrected by this Court. This 

Court should accept review and reverse the decisions of the trial court and 

the Court of Appeals, clarifying the duties of insurance defense counsel and 

the remedies available when those duties are breached. 

5.1 The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with 
this Court's decision in Tank. 

5.1.1 Tank protected the right of the insured client to be 
represented by a loyal advocate. 

In Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 

(1986), this Court made it clear that insurance-appointed defense counsel has 

only one client-the insured defendant-to whom counsel owes undeviating 

loyalty. Id. at 388. Defense counsel also owes enhanced duties of "full and 

ongoing disclosure to the insured [client]," including full disclosure of 

1) potential conflicts of interest, 2) all information relevant to the defense, 

and 3) all activity involving settlement. Id. at 388-89. In addition to disclosing, 

defense counsel must resolve all conflicts in favor of the insured client. Id. 

The dictates of RPC 1. 7 must be strictly followed, including the requirement 

of informed consent. Id. at 388. Defense counsel cannot allow the insurer to 

influence counsel's professional judgment. Id.; RPC 5.4(c). 
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The policy established in Tank was intended to ensure that insurance

appointed defense counsel under a reservation of rights would represent 

their insured clients in the same manner, to the same standards of care and 

loyalty, as would an attorney hired directly by the insured client. See Tank, 

1 OS Wn.2d at 387 (''A reservation of rights agreement is not a license for an 

insurer to conduct the defense of an action in a manner other than [the 

manner in which] it would normally be required to defend."). Anything less 

would be bad faith or breach of duty, for which the insurer or defense 

counsel could be liable. I d. at 387-88. 

Because a reservation of rights defense is "fraught with potential 

conflicts," Nat7 Sur. Corp. v. Immunex Corp., 176 Wn.2d 872, 879, 297 P.3d 688 

(2013) (citing Tank), this Court required "full and ongoing disclosure" of all 

actual or potential conflicts, in order to give the insured client the 

opportunity to understand the conflicts and decide whether to give informed 

consent to waive the conflicts. See Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 387-88. In disclosing 

and resolving conflicts, defense counsel must explain to the client the 

material and reasonably foreseeable ways that the conflict could have adverse 

effects on the interests of the client and discuss the client's options and 

alternatives. RPC l.OA(e) and Comment [6]; RPC 1.7 Comment [18]. 

Under Tank, the insured client has the right to be represented by a 

loyal advocate for the client's interests. Like any other attorney, insurance

appointed defense counsel must consider all interests of the insured client, 

including interests that are secondary to the goal of defending the claim. 

William T. Barker, et al., Insurer Utigation Guidelines: Ethical Issues for Insurer-
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Selected and Independent Defense Counsel, ABA Section of Litigation 2012 

Insurance Coverage Litigation Committee CLE Seminar, March 1-3,2012, 

at p. 5.2 The insured client should never have cause to question who defense 

counsel actually represents. Thomas V. Harris, Washington Insurance Law, 

§ 17.05 (3d ed. 2010).

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