#### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

#### No. 93207-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROFF ARDEN and BOBBI ARDEN, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

VS.

FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S., a Washington State professional services corporation; JOHN HAYES and "JANE DOE" HAYES, adult Washington State residents including any marital community; WILLIAM "CHRIS" GIBSON and "JANE DOE" GIBSON, adult Washington State residents including any marital community; and DOE DEFENDANTS I through V,

Respondents.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Ardens' procedurally defective petition for review makes it very difficult for Attorneys to adequately respond to the "issues" the Ardens are actually raising in this Court, or for this Court to properly process their petition.

The Ardens suggest that they intend to address five issues in their petition for review, pet. at 1-2, but then they actually only argue one of those issues pertaining to the alleged conflict of interest of Attorneys. They fail to articulate precisely why review of the Court of Appeals' careful opinion on that issue is merited under the specific criteria of RAP 13.4(b).

Not only did the Ardens have an obligation to articulate the issues they believe this Court should address under RAP 13.4(c)(5), they then had an obligation to provide a "direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section (b), with argument." RAP 13.4(c)(7).<sup>4</sup> This they failed to do as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> By failing to comply with RAP 13.4(c)(7), the Ardens have waived those issues because they have not legitimately "raised" them within the meaning of RAP 13.7(b) on this Court's scope of review. Clearly, the failure to set out an issue in the statement of issues, required under RAP 13.4(c)(5), means a party has not "raised" an issue, and the issue may not be raised for the first time in subsequent supplemental briefing. *State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 623-25, 141 P.3d 13 (2006) (The petitioner there also failed to present argument on the issue in its petition as required by RAP 13.4(c)(7). 157 Wn.2d at 624.). It is no different if a party mentions an issue but then fails to address as is required by RAP 13.4(c)(7); it must be disregarded. *In re Detention* 

to their issues involving (1) the attorney judgment rule, (2) the notion that defense counsel is the trustee of "the insurance defense asset," or (3) fee disgorgement.

The Court of Appeals opinion does not merit review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b). It is fully consistent with precedents of the Court of Appeals and this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).<sup>5</sup> Nor is it a case of substantial public importance as the Attorneys adhered faithfully this Court's teachings in *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 381, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986), and the rule the Ardens seemingly propose to supplant *Tank* for insurance defense counsel is ill-conceived and unworkable. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Simply put, Attorneys did not breach any fiduciary duty to the Ardens or commit professional negligence, and the trial court and Court of Appeals appropriately agreed.

#### (1) <u>The Court of Appeals Correctly Discerned that Attorneys</u> Adhered to This Court's Decision in *Tank*

The central focus of the Ardens' petition is upon their unfounded allegation that Attorneys somehow violated the *Tank* court's directions. Pet. at 11-17. In *Tank*, this Court was very specific as to the obligations of defense counsel appointed by an insurer to represent an insured where the

of A.S., 138 Wn.2d 898, 922 n.10, 982 P.2d 1156 (1999) (in the absence of argument on an issue in a petition for review, Court will not consider the argument).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Indeed, the Ardens discuss only three cases in their petition.

insurer is defending under a reservation of rights (as well as the obligations of the insurer to the insureds). The *Tank* court made it crystal clear that an insurer must retain "competent defense counsel" for the insured. *Id.* at 388. That counsel must clearly understand that the insured is the client. *Id.* The *Tank* court then articulated the specific obligations of defense counsel:

... defense counsel retained by insurers to defend insureds under a reservation of rights must meet distinct criteria as well. First, it is evident that such attorneys owe a duty of loyalty to their clients. Rules of Professional Conduct 5.4(c) prohibits a lawyer, employed by a party to represent a third party, from allowing the employer to influence his or her professional judgment. In a reservation-of-rights defense, RPC 5.4(c) demands that counsel understand that he or she represents only the *insured*, not the company. As stated by the court in *Van Dyke v. White*, 55 Wash.2d 601, 613, 349 P.2d 430 (1960), "[t]he standards of the legal profession require undeviating fidelity of the lawyer to his client. No exceptions can be tolerated."

Second, defense counsel owes a duty of full and ongoing disclosure to the insured. This duty of disclosure has three aspects. First, potential conflicts of interest between insurer and insured must be fully disclosed and resolved in favor of the insured. The dictates of RPC 1.7, which address conflicts of interest such as this, must be strictly followed. Second, all information relevant to the insured's defense, including a realistic and periodic assessment of the insured's chances to win or lose the pending lawsuit, must be communicated to the insured. Finally, *all* offers of settlement must be disclosed to the insured as those offers are presented. In a reservation-of-rights defense, it is the insured who may pay any judgment or settlement. Therefore, it is the insured who must make the ultimate choice regarding settlement. In order to make an informed

decision in this regard, the insured must be fully apprised of all activity involving settlement, whether the settlement offers or rejections come from the injured party or the insurance company.

Id. at 388-89. See generally, Thomas V. Harris, Wash. Insurance Law (3d ed.) § 17.05.

The record here clearly discloses Attorneys told the Ardens both by letter and in a face-to-face meeting that their duty was to defend the Ardens. Op. at 4-5.<sup>6</sup> Attorneys were not involved in any coverage controversy between Hartford and the Ardens. *Id*.

Having followed *Tank*'s admonition that defense counsel should avoid any possibility of having the insurer influence defense counsel conduct of the insured's defense, the Court of Appeals properly concluded Attorneys had no duty to persuade Hartford to settle the case, particularly where the Ardens had their own coverage counsel, Jon Cushman, whose job it was to try to persuade Hartford. Op. at 19-20.

The Ardens allege Attorneys violated a duty by failing to disclose potential conflicts between Hartford and the Ardens, as *Tank* requires. However, the undisputed evidence is that Gibson discussed this very issue at his first meeting with them. CP 169. Moreover, in Jon Cushman, the Ardens had a personal attorney handling an existing coverage dispute

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The court indicated that a combination of the statements in the initial letter and Gibson's communications during a subsequent meeting with the Ardens satisfied Attorneys' disclosure obligations under *Tank*. Op. at 17-18.

before — and after — Attorneys were retained. Cushman knew, CP 320, and the Ardens are charged with knowing, CP 601, that Hartford appointed Attorneys to represent them in accordance with their policy and paid Attorneys for their services.

Moreover, Attorneys apprised the Ardens, directly or through Cushman, of the settlement negotiations with the Duffys. Op. at 5-6, 21. Cushman was fully aware of counteroffers to the Duffys' demands. Op. at 23-24. Thus, the Ardens' assertions that they were unaware of a defense plan, pet. at 4, and that they never had involvement in settlement decisions, pet. at 6, are simply false.

The only aspect of Attorneys' involvement in settlement in which the Court of Appeals questioned Attorneys' conduct was with regard to consulting with the Ardens before rejecting the Duffys' settlement demand. Op. at 22. But the court also concluded that the Ardens were not harmed by this conduct because the Ardens were only interested in settlement if Hartford paid the settlement *in its entirety*. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals provided a clear, careful articulation of the principles this Court established in *Tank*. Op. at 9-11. It noted the added ethical dimension to defense counsel's obligation to insureds like the Ardens when it discussed the implications of RPC 5.4(c) and RPC

1.8(f)(2) that apply when a third party is paying for the services of counsel in representing clients. Op. at 10. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

# (2) The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that Attorneys Had No RPC 1.7 Conflict of Interest

Tank requires not only that appointed defense counsel meet this Court's specific protocol for the appropriate representation of an insured in a reservation of rights situation, the appointed counsel must also avoid specific conflicts of interest under RPC 1.7. 105 Wn.2d at 388. Here, Attorneys had no conflict of interest under that rule.

Just as the Ardens' petition does not actually provide argument to this Court on their putative issues involving defense counsel as a "trustee," fee disgorgement, or the attorney judgment rule in professional negligence cases, it appears that the Ardens believe there is a conflict of interest issue in this case, because they employ the language of RPC 1.7, pet. at 1 (issue 1), but they then offer *no argument* in the petition on how the Court of Appeals decision *in any way* contradicted the teachings of this Court on RPC 1.7 or contradicted precedential decisions of the Court of Appeals.

The Ardens seemingly contend for a position on defense counsel's relationship with an insured that *far exceeds* the express parameters of *Tank*. They imply that insurer-appointed defense counsel *automatically* have a conflict of interest with insureds if they have ever represented an

insurer in a coverage dispute or have been appointed by an insurer. Pet. at 12-17.<sup>7</sup> Such a position undermines *Tank* and other Washington authority.

The Court of Appeals addressed the issue of conflict of interest with care in its opinion at 13-14, rejecting an apparent argument offered by the Ardens that an insurer in a reservation of rights case is automatically "conflicted" and must invariably appoint as the insured's defense counsel an attorney who has never previously represented the insurer in coverage matters or has never been appointed by an insurer to represent other insureds. Op. at 14-15. As the Court of Appeals noted, the Ardens' initial premise is wrong. *Tank* specifically stands for the proposition that while defense under a reservation of rights creates only a "potential" for a conflict of interest, an actual conflict of interest can be

CP 365.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Ardens supported this extreme position with the declaration of Professor John Strait who concluded that any representation by Attorneys of Hartford on coverage matters, regardless of how different the time or subject of such coverage matters might be, constituted so great a conflict that the Ardens could not have waived it. CP 422. Jeffrey Tilden, an expert with considerable experience as defense counsel and personal counsel for policyholders, stated:

In essence, Professor Strait's opinion is that an attorney cannot both represent an insurer as to coverage in some matters and simultaneously defend that insurer's policyholders in other matters. This is plainly not the standard of care in this state. The practice of reasonable, careful, and prudent attorneys across Washington is to do just this. Hundreds of attorneys across the state do both coverage work and appointed defense work for the same insurers on a daily basis and have for the entire 33 years of my career. I have never heard anyone suggest this was improper until the declaration filed here.

avoided if this Court's directions set forth to defense counsel are met. 105 Wn.2d at 387. Op. at 14-15.8

Like the Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals has long rejected the proposition that there is an "automatic" conflict of interest when an insurer defends an insured under a reservation of rights. *Johnson v. Continental Cas. Co.*, 57 Wn. App. 359, 361, 788 P.2d 598 (1990) ("In Washington, there is simply no presumption that a reservation of rights situation creates an automatic conflict of interest."). An insurer has no obligation to pay for its insured's retention of separate, personal counsel so long as the insurer and its appointed defense counsel adhere to the *Tank* protocol. *Id.* at 362-63. As noted in Thomas V. Harris, *Wash. Insurance Law* (3d ed.) at 17-18, "The decision in *Johnson* is entirely appropriate."

An automatic conflict rule is obviously *highly impractical*, and will deprive insurers of the ability to appoint the most qualified, experienced defense counsel to represent insureds, something highly desirable from the *insureds' standpoint*.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Court of Appeals specifically noted, however, that defense counsel are not insulated from liability for breach of their fiduciary duty to a client if they failed to adhere to the *Tank* protocol. Op. at 15 n.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Ardens neglect to discuss just how far they propose their interpretation of RPC 1.7 should go. Will a single representation of an insurer in a coverage dispute 10 years ago, invariably disqualify that firm from appointment to represent an insured? Will 5% of a firm's work that involves defense appointment to represent insureds mandate disqualification? Will appointment by State Farm to defend its insureds at some point disqualify a firm from representing Hartford insureds? Such a broad sweep to RPC

The record shows as a matter of law that Attorneys did not violate the conflict rules because a "concurrent conflict of interest" never arose. RPC 1.7(a)(2). <sup>10</sup> As a matter of law, no concurrent conflict of interest existed, because the Ardens presented no evidence of a "significant risk" that representation of the Ardens would be "materially limited" by Attorneys' responsibilities to Hartford or a personal interest of any of the Attorneys, a showing required under RPC 1.7(a)(2). The Ardens presented no evidence that Hartford was a current client when Attorneys began representing the Ardens. The Ardens also do not contend that Attorneys represented Hartford as to the Ardens' coverage or on a similar coverage issue in any other case.

Instead, there was significant proof that Attorneys' conduct – far from being "materially limited" – in fact met the standard of care in every way. CP 362-69, 508-26.

Finally, with regard to the one instance in which a specific conflict of interest was alleged by the Ardens – an alleged failure on Attorneys'

<sup>1.7(</sup>a) certainly has implications for the construction of CJC 2.11(A)(6) as well. An absolute rule, if that is what the Ardens are contending should apply in the RPC 1.7(a) context, must be rejected.

<sup>&</sup>quot;A concurrent conflict of interest exists if ... there is significant risk that the representation of [a] client will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client, or a third person, or by a personal interest of the lawyer." RPC 1.7(a)(2). See generally, LK Operating, LLC v. Collection Group, LLC, 181 Wn.2d 48, 84, 331 P.3d 1147 (2014) where this Court held that an attorney's representation of a trust set up for his children and the principal of a debt collection firm was directly adverse under RPC 1.7(a)(1).

part to "quickly" settle the Duffys' lawsuit, the Court of Appeals patiently explained that there was no breach of duty by Attorneys because the Ardens failed to document any alleged conflict. Op. at 20-21.<sup>11</sup>

If it is the Ardens' position that they are entitled to an "independent counsel" in which they select counsel to represent them in defense of a tort claim like that of the Duffys, and insurers like Hartford must simply pay for such representation, that position is unsupported in Washington. (Again, left undiscussed is the question of whether such counsel would be invariably barred from representing them if concurrently, or in the past, such counsel had represented Hartford on a coverage matter or had been appointed to defend a Hartford insured). This Court implicitly rejected such a notion in *Tank*, as the Court of Appeals observed. Op. at 14. This approach to representation of insureds has been modified by statute in the state in which it originated. *Dynamic Concepts*, *Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange*, 71 Cal. Rptr. 2d 882 (Cal. App. 1998). 12

11 Indeed, the Ardens do not argue this issue in their petition, and mention an alleged desire for such a quick settlement only in passing. The facts also belie the argument in any event. Attorneys were appointed to represent the Ardens by Hartford on November 19. Gibson met with them 5 weeks later. Attorneys served discovery on the Duffys shortly after that. CP 621. The full duration of Attorneys' representation of the Ardens was about 5 months.

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